
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

August 04, 2020  9:00 am 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Shari Barr 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 07-21-2020 Work Session Minutes 
b) 07-21-2020 Council Minutes 
c) 07-21-2020 Executive Session Minutes 

 
6. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2020-06: An 

Ordinance revising City Ord. 2-2.4 regarding ordinance revision procedure before Mayor 
and Council. 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2020-23: A Resolution of the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Statesboro Georgia to enter into a Grant Agreement with the 
State of Georgia in order to access the Coronavirus Relief Fund. 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to approve the renewal of the City of Statesboro property,  
casualty and workers compensation insurance as follows per the recommendation of our 
insurance broker Glenn Davis and Associates: 

A. Property Casualty  Travelers Insurance 
B. Workers Compensation Bitco Insurance 
C. Fire Dept Property Ins. VFIS 
D. Cyber Security  BCS Insurance 

 
9. Consideration of contract with Wood Environment and Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. to 

provide design and environmental services for proposed upgrades to Luetta Moore and 
Grady Street Parks. 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to Tim Lanier Construction LLC in the 
amount of $134,670.50 for sidewalk improvements to West Jones Avenue with approval 
to spend up to $135,750.00 for additional work based on contactors unit bid price. This 
project is paid from 2018 TSPLOST funds. 
 

11. Discussion regarding the City of Statesboro’s participation in GMA’s 2020 Census 
Challenge  



12. Other Business from City Council

13. City Managers Comments

A. Need to set a date for the City Council Retreat for 2021.

14. Public Comments (General)

15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b)

16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

JULY 21, 2020 

1 
 

 
 Mayor & Council Work Session        50 E. Main St. Council Chambers City Hall                             3:30 PM 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on July 21, 2020 at 3:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers 
at City Hall, 50 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Phil Boyum, 
Paulette Chavers, Venus Mack - Via Zoom, John Riggs and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah 
Harden, City Attorney Cain Smith, City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles and 
Public Information Officer Layne Phillips.  
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar  
 

1) Quarterly Financial Report  
Director of Finance Cindy West gave a quarterly financial report of the FY 2020 Fourth Quarter, reviewing 
the revenue and expenditures in the General Fund, Statesboro Fire Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, Stormwater 
Fund, Natural Gas Fund, Solid Waste Collection Fund and Solid Waste Disposal Fund.    

 
2) One Boro Commission 

April Schueths, Chairperson with the Statesboro Commission on Diversity and Inclusion “One Boro” 
introduced each of the members, and turned it over to Stacy Smallwood. Stacy Smallwood spoke on the 
Statesboro Equity and Inclusion Act. The Statesboro Equity and Inclusion Act is in two parts, part one is 
Equity & Data-Driven Decision Making and focuses on the following four; violence prevention, community 
programming, City of Statesboro Employee and Access Training, and measuring and monitoring a campaign 
for equity. Part two defines Discriminatory Practices for employment, housing, and public accommodations. 
Part 2 also includes procedures for filing a complaint if someone feels they are being discriminated against. 
The procedure following the complaint would be mediation and possible penalties. The City of Statesboro 
shall develop guidelines for the identification, investigation, documentation and reporting of hate crimes 
committed within the corporate limits of the City of Statesboro.   

 
3) Anti-Discrimination Ordinance 

City Attorney Cain Smith reviewed the Anti-Discrimination ordinance. Cain Smith drafted this ordinance 
using One Boro’s Equity package and looked at other municipal courts anti-discrimination ordinance passed 
in the State. The discriminatory actions in 80-2 of the proposed ordinance were kept, they are the same as 
One Boro had put up, and consistent with other municipal court ordinances. He suggested the number of 
days to file a complaint be changed from 60 to 180.   The reporting of hate crimes is included in the 
ordinance. The complaint can be filed with the City Clerk for the fee of $25.00 the offender will be served 
within 7 business days.  Parties will be given the option of nonbinding mediation with the cost split between 
the two. If mediation is declined or not successful it will be referred to the Municipal Court Judge. The Judge 
could issue a fine up to $500 for the 1st offense, up to $1000 and/or suspension or revocation of OTC for any 
other violations. The two differences between the ordinances Cain drafted for first reading and the One Boro 



2 
 

is the complainant would have to show burden of proof. In addition, the complaint will not be heard by a 
Human Relations Committee it will go before the Municipal Court Judge.  Mayor wanted to know how much 
work the City does with minority owned businesses. City Manager, Charles Penny stated that we are 
working on pulling that information. Mayor wants to bring both pieces together, equity piece and 
discrimination as well as economic piece. Making sure that we work with all businesses across the board. 
Bringing it back to the next work session in August to include all aspects of the equity package as presented 
by One Boro. Direction was given to the City Attorney to have the information available to Mayor and 
Council 3 business days before the meeting.  
 

4) Youth Commission 
Lanie Jenkins with Youth Commission reviewed with the mayor and council what their commission has been 
doing. They have created a Facebook page and website. In February 2019 a meeting with over 30 youth 
organizations leaders was held to discuss strategies for our youth. Over the past year the Youth Commission 
has attended and organized community youth events. They hosted a free youth gospel concert at Crossroads 
Community Church and put together an Inaugural youth retreat, which raised approximately $11,000.00. 
Lanie also reviewed what is coming up, creating a youth strategic plan, creating children zones in the city, 
city mentoring program and city wide youth events. Council member Chavers asked if the youth were a part 
of the programming ideas. Lanie Jenkins stated they have tried recruiting, but only two showed up.  They are 
looking into how to get more youth to come in. Council member Chavers asked for some of the entities that 
have been brought in to help. Those entities include youth readiness, Averrit center, Youth Career Camp, 
Track, Bulloch Co Parks and Recreation, along with other programs. Each one of those organizations are 
encouraged to take part. Council member Shari Barr gave the suggestion to reach out to those organizations 
and get them to nominate a youth to be a budding leader. Lanie said that they have an application but they 
have not get to the point of dispensing it and getting it out there. Mayor McCollar talked about how Keith 
Brown got the youth interacting at the retreat. He believes that COVID 19 slowed us down so that we can get 
prepared, he thanked them for everything that they have done for our youth.  
 
 

5) Housing/Code Enforcement Report 
Kathleen Fields, director of planning and development, introduced the new code compliance officers, 
Charles Brown and Jermain Foster. Kathleen Fields reviewed with Mayor and Council some of the 
improvements that have been made since we now have code compliance officers. These improvements 
include, overgrown lots, derelict vehicles, junk materials, dilapidated structures/demolitions, and 
miscellaneous cases (i.e. barking dogs, illegal dumping, stop work orders, sewage backup, etc.) There are 
three key factors for Neighborhood Revitalization. First key factor is Code enforcement. In order to 
strengthen code compliance the adoption of a Prevention Maintenance Ordinance, which will result in more 
focused citations and better support the efforts of our Code Compliance Officers. We will need to educate 
the public on the requirements of this Ordinance. The second key factor would be to activate the Statesboro-
Bulloch County Land Bank Authority. The purpose of this authority is to promote affordable housing, to 
assemble tracts of land for public parks or other public purposes and to promote commercial ventures. The 
third key factor is funding sources. These sources include the Community Development Block Grant 
Program (CDBG), the Community Home Investment Program (CHIP Grant) and through the Statesboro 
Housing Authority, as they have access to federal funds for public-private partnerships for new 
developments or rehabilitation. 

 
 



 
6) Parks Improvements 

City Manager Charles Penny reviewed with Mayor and Council the estimated cost for improvements to 
Luetta Moore and Grady Street parks.  The cost for both parks is about $3.9 million. The funding source for 
these improvements come from SPLOST funds. Bulloch County committing $1,000,000.00 and the City 
committing $1,100,000.00 over the next five years. However, SPLOST is authorized through 2024. We are 
unsure if SPLOST will be authorized again.  There was discussion regarding the remaining funded needed if 
both parks are done at the same time. The next step will be to engage Wood Inc. to design the parks project 
and work with our financial advisor on the financing structure. There was a consensus of Mayor and Council 
to have both parks done at the same time. There will be a contract on the August 4th agenda with Wood Inc. 
to begin the design work for both parks.   
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:00 pm 
 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

JULY 21, 2020 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                                50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                             5:30 PM 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  
 

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 
Councilman John Riggs gave the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present  
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present Via Zoom  
John Riggs Councilmember Present  
Shari Barr Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present was: City Manager Charles Penny, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden. 
 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: None 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): None  

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 06-16-2020 Work Session Minutes 
b) 06-16-2020 Council Minutes 
c) 05-19-2020 Executive Session Minutes 
d) 06-02-2020 Executive Session Minutes 

  
A motion was made to the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



2 
 

6. Public Hearing & Consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license Sec. 6-5 
Eight of Clubs, LLC 
DBA: Tandoor & Tap 
40 E Main Street 
Avkaah Jetwani   

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
   NAYS: 
 
A motion was made to approve the alcohol application for Eight of Clubs LLC, DBA Tandoor and Tap located at 40 E. 
Main Street, applicant Avkaash Jetwani.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS: 
 
 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve APPLICATION RZ 20-06-01: Lamar Smith 

Signature Group requests a zoning map amendment to 5.88 acres of property located at 54 Packinghouse 
Road from CR (Commercial Retail) to R-4 (High Density Residential) zoning district in order to utilize the 
property for a 44-unit townhome development (Tax Parcel MS69 000003A002).   

 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

   



 

3 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 

 
Jeremy Hart spoke in favor of the request.  
No one spoke against the request.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
   NAYS: 
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION RZ 20-06-01with staff recommendations.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS: 
 
8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve APPLICATION SE 20-06-02: Billy H. Hill requests 

a special exception for 0.48 acres of property located at 882 Northside Drive East to utilize the commercial 
building and associated site improvements as an automotive sales use in a CR (commercial retail) zoning 
district (Tax Parcel S59 000091 000).   

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

   



4 
 

 
  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
Billy Hill and Tony Crosby spoke in favor of the request. 
No one spoke against the request. 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS:  
 
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION SE 20-06-02 with staff recommendations.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  
    NAYS:  
 
9. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinances 2020-06: An Ordinance revising City Ord. 2-2.4 

regarding ordinance revision procedure before Mayor and Council.   
 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith explained the revision of this ordinance. 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

   



 

5 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
A motion was made to approve the first reading of Ordinance 2020-06: an Ordinance revising City Ord. 2-2.4 regarding 
Ordinance revision procedure before Mayor and Council. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS: 
 

10. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2020-07 An Ordinance establishing Article 80 
Discrimination.   

 
A motion was made to table this item.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
11. Consideration of a Motion to approve the second amendment to the agreement with T-Mobile regarding 

continued rent of space on a City owned water tower at 620 Park Avenue for cellular infrastructure.   
 
A motion was made to approve the second amendment to the agreement with T-Mobile regarding continued rent of space 
on a City owned water tower at 620 Park Avenue for cellular infrastructure.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

4-1  

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

  Councilmember Phil Boyum 



6 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to approve a Memorandum of Understanding with the Boys and Girls Club of 
Bulloch County. 

 
A motion was made to approve a Memorandum of Understanding with the Boys and Girls Club of Bulloch County.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to approve a Memorandum of Understanding with BSD-Statesboro LLC 
regarding installation of utilities infrastructure south along Highway 67/Fair Road.  
 

A motion was made to approve a Memorandum of Understanding with BSD-Statesboro LLC regarding installation of 
utilities infrastructure south along Highway 67/Fair Road.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS: 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2020-22: A Resolution amending the scope change for the 
Intergovernmental Agreement between the City of Statesboro and Georgia Environmental Financing 
Authority (GEFA). 
 

A motion was made to Resolution 2020-22: A Resolution amending the scope change for the Intergovernmental 
Agreement between the City of Statesboro and Georgia Environmental Financing Authority (GEFA).   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
   
    NAYS: 
  
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to approve a modification of promissory note with Georgia Environmental 
Financing Authority (GEFA) for SRF Loan CW2019010. 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

   



 

7 
 

A motion was made to approve a modification of promissory note with Georgia Environmental Financing Authority 
(GEFA) for SRF Loan CW2019010.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS: 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract with Preferred Site Construction in the amount of $153,644.00 
for sidewalk improvements to Herty Drive and South Edgewood Drive with approval to spend up to 
$200,000.00 for additional work based on contractor’s unit bid prices. This project in paid from 2018 
TSPLOST funds.  
 

A motion was made to award a contract with Preferred Site Construction in the amount of $153,644.00 for sidewalk 
improvements to Herty Drive and South Edgewood Drive with approval to spend up to $200,000.00 for additional work 
based on contractor’s unit bid prices.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
 
    NAYS:  
 
 

17. Other Business from City Council: None 
 

18.  City Managers Comments: None 
 

19. Public Comments (General): None   
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” and “Potential 
Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 
At 6:11 pm a motion was made to enter into executive Session.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  John Riggs 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Phil Boyum 

Councilmember  John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

   



8 
 

 
At 6:38 pm a motion was made to exit Executive Session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
Mayor McCollar called the regular meeting back to order with no action taken in Executive Session. 
 
21. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to adjourn.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at  6:38 pm. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: July 28, 2020 
 
RE: August 4, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second Reading and Consideration of revision to City Ord 2-2.4 
regarding ordinance revision procedure before Mayor and Council. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration 
 
Background: Motion to direct city attorney to revise existing 2-2.4 for first reading 
at meeting of Mayor and council was made and approved at work session on 
June 16, 2020. First Reading was passed 4-1 on July 21, 2020. Existing version was 
passed on December 4, 2018. Revision to ordinance would allow Mayor, two 
Council members, or City Manager to direct City Attorney to produce 
ordinance revision drafts for Mayor and Council review at work session. 
 
Budget Impact: None  
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed revision and existing ordinance 



Ordinance 2020-06: 

Sec. 2-2.4. – Presentation of Code of Ordinances Revisions to Mayor and Council  

a) Requests for revisions to the Code of Ordinances may be made by the City Manager, Mayor or two 
members of Council. These requests shall be in writing to the City Attorney not less than seven days 
prior to the work session at which it is intended to be brought forward for initial review by Mayor 
and Council. City Attorney shall then draft proposed revision for presentation at work session. The 
person(s) requesting the revision shall present explanation and reasons for making the proposed 
revision to Mayor and Council at work session. Suggestions for revisions to the Code of Ordinances 
shall only be made by the Mayor, Council or City Manager. Any citizen, board or outside 
organization wishing to make a suggestion for revision shall contact their District Council 
representative or the Mayor, who may sponsor the idea before Mayor and Council. 

b) An affirmative vote of a majority of quorum of Mayor and Council at work session shall be required to 
move the proposed written ordinance revision forward to be placed on the agenda as First Reading at a 
subsequent regularly scheduled meeting of Mayor and Council that is not held on the same date that 
work session approval is made. Vote to do so shall be taken in accordance with existing standard voting 
guidelines as outlined in the Charter. 

c)  First reading: An approved proposed ordinance revision shall then be presented as a First Reading 
and Public Hearing, which shall be run according to standard Charter meeting guidelines. Mayor and 
Council may vote in the affirmative to move the ordinance, as then presented or with only minor 
modification, forward to Second Reading. Substantial changes made to revision presented at First 
Reading shall require modified revision to be presented as a First Reading at a subsequent meeting of 
Mayor and Council. 

e) Second Reading and Consideration: Mayor and Council may move to approve or deny the revision as 
presented in the publicly available meeting agenda. Scrivener’s errors may be corrected, but no 
substantive modifications to proposed revision shall be considered for passage. 

f) Upon recommendation of City staff and unanimous vote of quorum of Mayor and Council the 
formalities contained herein may be waived. 

 



Sec. 2-2-4. - Presentation of Code of Ordinances revisions to mayor and council. 

(a) 

Proposed revisions to the Code of Ordinances shall be brought up as an agenda item at a regularly 
scheduled meeting of the mayor and council or during "other business" of a regularly scheduled 
meeting. The person(s) requesting the revision shall present explanation and reason for making the 
proposed revision to mayor and council. Suggestions for revisions to the Code of Ordinances shall only 
be made by the mayor, council or city staff. Any citizen, board or outside organization wishing to make a 
suggestion for revision shall contact their district council representative or the mayor, who may sponsor 
the idea before mayor and council. 

(b) 

An affirmative vote of a majority of quorum of mayor and council shall move the ordinance revision 
forward with a directive that the city attorney draft proposed revision language. Vote to do so shall be 
taken in accordance with existing standard voting guidelines as outlined in the Charter. 

(c) 

The city attorney shall then prepare a draft of the revision. In the case of a proposed revision to an 
existing ordinance, the city attorney shall prepare a document that shows the existing ordinance in its 
current form with proposed additions and deletions notated in a comprehensible manner on a single 
copy. If intent to proceed with revision under (b) has been properly made, the city attorney may present 
a so declared preliminary revision at a regularly scheduled meeting of mayor and council in order to 
facilitate discussion and seek input from mayor and council during the revision drafting process. A 
preliminary revision shall not be considered for passage by mayor and council. Public hearing on a 
proposed revision may only be allowed upon motion of mayor and council though it is not required for a 
preliminary revision to move forward. 

(d) 

Once the city attorney has substantially prepared the proposed ordinance revision it should be 
presented as a first reading and public hearing, which shall be run according to standard Charter 
meeting guidelines. Mayor and council may vote in the affirmative to move the ordinance, as then 
presented or with only minor modification, forward to second reading. Substantial changes made to 
revision presented at first reading shall require modified revision to be presented as a first reading at a 
subsequent meeting of mayor and council. 

(e) 

Second reading. Mayor and council may move to approve or deny the revision as presented in the 
publicly available meeting agenda. Scrivener's errors may be corrected, but no substantive modifications 
to proposed revision shall be considered for passage. 

(f) 

Upon recommendation of city staff and unanimous vote of quorum of mayor and council the formalities 
contained herein may be waived. 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: July 28, 2020 
 
RE: August 4, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Resolution authorizing Mayor to execute Grant Agreement with the 
State of Georgia to access Coronavirus Relief Funds made available under the 
CARES Act and to appoint designee to accept payments and act in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Grant Agreement. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: City is eligible for $1,725,065.66 in Phase 1 CRF to cover expenses 
related to COVID response undertaken between March 1, 2020 and December 
31, 2020. Grant Agreement with State of Georgia must be executed in order to 
access these funds. City is eligible for a total of $5,750,219.00 in CRF. 
 
Budget Impact: Up to $5,750,219.00 in reimbursements for COVID response 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Grant Agreement 



1 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF BULLOCH 
 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATEBORO GEORGIA 
 

RESOLUTION  2020 - 23 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STATEBORO GEORGIA TO ENTER INTO A GRANT AGREEMENT WITH 
THE STATE OF GEORGIA IN ORDER TO ACCESS THE CORONAVIRUS 
RELIEF FUND 
 

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 pandemic has exacted an unprecedented toll on the 
United States, the State of Georgia, and the City of Statesboro; and 
 

WHEREAS, the State of Georgia administers and disburses the Coronavirus 
Relief Fund (“CRF”) made available under the CARES Act to reimburse local 
governments for expenses related to Coronavirus response between March 1, 2020 and 
December 31, 2020; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has been allocated $517,519.70 in Phase 1 advance funds 

and total Phase 1 funding in the amount of $1,725,065.66 representing 30% of up to 
$5,750,219.00 in total CRF that the City is eligible for; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary that the City enter into a Grant Agreement with the 

State of Georgia to access the CRF;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO THAT:  
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar is hereby authorized to execute the Grant Agreement 

and any amendments presented to the City by the State of Georgia. It is further authorized 
that he appoint Finance Director Cindy S. West as official representative designee to 
accept payments from CRF and to act in connection with the Grant Agreement and to 
provide additional information as may be required under the terms and conditions of the 
Grant Agreement. 
   
 RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of August, 2020. 
    
      
 
     By:_______________________________________ 
           Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
     Attest:____________________________________ 
                Leah Harden, City Clerk 































































 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

7-27-20 
To: Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From: Darren Prather, Director Central Services 
 
Re: Recommendation-2020-2021 Renewal of Property Casualty/ Workers Comp. Ins. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended the City of Statesboro renew our property casualty and workers compensation 
insurance as follows per the recommendation of our insurance broker Glenn Davis and Associates: 

1. Property Casualty  Travelers Insurance 
2. Workers Compensation Bitco Insurance 
3. Fire Dept Property Ins. VFIS 
4. Cyber Security  BCS Insurance 

The recommended insurance carriers have provided excellent service in previous years. BCS insurance, 
which will potentially be providing our Cyber insurance provider, is the only new carrier in this grouping 
in which we have no direct history. VFIS is selected to cover our Fire Dept. property due to providing 
free training and the fact they offer new value replacement for property and equipment not pro-rated 
coverage amounts. 
Background 
A year ago, the City of Statesboro selected Glenn Davis and Associates for a three year contract to serve 
as our broker for property casualty and workers compensation insurance. Per this contract, Glenn Davis 
is responsible for shopping our policy to all appropriate carriers. Our policy for these two areas of 
insurance begins and ends each year on August 15th. Represented below, are last year’s premiums and 
the current premiums being proposed for the upcoming year. The areas to be renewed are as follows: 

Coverage Area   Carrier   2019 Premium  2020 Premium 
1. Property and Casualty  Travelers  $524,609  $548,663 
2. Workers Compensation Bitco   $291,074  $341,546 
3. Fire Dept Prop. Ins.  VFIS   $39,922  $63,091 
4. Cyber Liability Ins.  BCS   $4,043   $9,190 

The property casualty insurance had a below industry increase of approximately 4%. The workers 
compensation insurance had an increase of approximately 15% due to our mod increase from .85 to .97 
(mod is an insurance rating score indicating our risk. An average mod is 1.0. The lower the score the 
better). Most of this increase is solely due to our mod increase. A small portion is due to payroll 
increases. Our Fire Department property insurance increase is due to the addition of our enhanced 
training tower ($800,000) and our Burn Building ($1,510,000). The Cyber Security coverage saw an 
increase due to a recommended increase in coverage. Premiums are subject to change due to the 
addition of new facilities, equipment and vehicles throughout the year. 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: July 30, 2020 
 
RE: August 4, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of contract with Wood Environment and 
Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. to provide design and environmental services for 
proposed upgrades to Luetta Moore and Grady Street Parks. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: Wood has previously been contracted by the City to solicit 
community input and provide preliminary design proposals for upgrades to both 
parks that have been presented to the public and Mayor & Council. The 
purpose of this contract is to engage Wood to provide final design work and 
necessary environmental services for the proposed upgrades to these parks.  
 
Budget Impact: $226,300.00 in 2019 SPLOST funds 
 
Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Wood proposal and contract 



 
 
 
 



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180



Luetta Moore Park and Grady Street Park                                                                                                             July 29, 2020
Statesboro, Georgia 
Wood Proposal No. 20PROPGOVT.2020.0180

Christopher.Ju
ng

Digitally signed by 
Christopher.Jung 
DN: cn=Christopher.Jung 
Date: 2020.07.29 18:40:45 -04'00'











                                                           

US T&M 4-2020 
 Page 1 of 6 

                     

              SERVICES AGREEMENT 
                 (Time and Materials) 

THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), effective this ____ day of _______ 20__, is made by and between Wood Environment 
& Infrastructure Solutions, Inc., a Nevada corporation, with an address at 1075 Big Shanty Rd, Kennesaw, GA. 30144 
(“Wood”) and City of Statesboro, Georgia with an address at 50 E. Main Street, Statesboro, GA. 30458. (“CLIENT”).  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual undertakings and subject to the terms set forth below and intending to be 
legally bound, the parties agree as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES: This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which Wood will provide CLIENT 
services (the “Services”) as described in its proposal, dated July 28, 2020, attached as Exhibit 1 (“Proposal”).

2. COMPENSATION: Wood will be compensated in US dollars for its Services on a time-and-materials basis. 

Wood shall be reimbursed for all hours worked, all applicable taxes, and other costs incurred at the rates and terms set forth 
on Exhibit 1. Should the total cost of Wood’s performance be greater than the estimated amount, Wood will notify CLIENT and 
provide a revised estimate for CLIENT’s approval. In such event, continued performance is subject to additional funding as 
mutually agreed.  

In addition to the amount payable for services, CLIENT assumes full responsibility for the payment of any applicable sales, 
use, or value-added taxes under this Agreement, except as otherwise specified. If Services are required to be provided in 
any foreign jurisdiction (i.e. – outside the US), CLIENT shall compensate Wood for any and all additional taxes, penalties, 
duties, levies or other charges by any governmental authority assessed or imposed in relation to this Agreement or the 
Services or any part thereof, which exceed those imposed in the US and whether assessed or imposed on Wood, its 
employees, its subcontractors or otherwise.  

Invoices will be submitted at least monthly for Services rendered. Terms of payment are net thirty (30) days from date of 
invoice with a late fee of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month or eighteen percent (18%) per annum or the maximum 
amount allowable by law on balances past due. Interest shall be computed at 31 days from the date of invoice. In addition, 
any collection fees, attorneys’ fees, court costs, and other related expenses incurred by Wood in the collection of delinquent 
invoice amounts shall be paid by CLIENT. 

If CLIENT reasonably objects to all or any portion of an invoice, CLIENT shall notify Wood of that fact in writing within ten (10) 
days from the date of receipt of Wood’s invoice, give reasons for the objection, and pay that portion of the invoice not 
reasonably in dispute.  Failure of CLIENT to provide such written notice within the allowed ten (10) day period shall be 
deemed to be a waiver of all objections to that invoice. 

CLIENT’s payment shall represent CLIENT’s acceptance of the Services invoiced by Wood. Wood may suspend performance 
of Services under this Agreement if: (i) CLIENT fails to make payment in accordance with the terms hereof, or (ii) Wood 
reasonably believes that CLIENT will be unable to pay Wood in accordance with the terms hereof and notifies CLIENT in 
writing prior to such suspension of Services. Such suspension shall continue until Wood has been paid in full for all balances 
past due including applicable service charges and CLIENT provides Wood with adequate assurance of CLIENT’s ability to 
make future payments in accordance with the terms hereof. If any such suspension causes an increase in the time required 
for the performance of any part of the Services, the performance schedule and/or period for performance shall be extended 
for a period of time equal to the suspension period. 

The rates stated in the Proposal or included in Exhibit 1 shall be the basis for determining Wood’s compensation for any
Services.  After January 1 of each subsequent calendar year, the rates may be increased by Wood up to an overall 
average increase of five percent (5%); provided that an overall average increase in excess of five percent (5%) shall be 
subject to CLIENT’s approval.  Wood shall provide CLIENT with thirty (30) days advance notice of any change in rates. 

3. STANDARD OF CARE: Wood will perform the Scope of Services specified utilizing that degree of skill and care ordinarily 
exercised under similar conditions by reputable members of Wood’s profession practicing in the same or similar locality at the 
time of performance.  NO OTHER WARRANTY, GUARANTY, OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IS MADE 
OR INTENDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, OR IN ANY COMMUNICATION (ORAL OR WRITTEN), REPORT, OPINION, 
DOCUMENT, OR INSTRUMENT OF SERVICE, AND THE SAME ARE SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMED, INCLUDING THE 
IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 

4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR: Wood shall be fully independent and shall not act, except as permitted herein, as an 
agent or employee of CLIENT. Wood shall be solely responsible for its employees and for their compensation, benefits, 
contributions, and taxes, if any. 



                                                           

US T&M 4-2020 
 Page 2 of 6 

Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Wood and CLIENT, neither party shall directly or indirectly solicit, hire or retain, or
knowingly cause a third party to solicit, hire or retain, during the term of this Agreement and for a period of one (1) year 
after the date on which this Agreement terminates, any employee of the other party who works on the preparation of the 
Proposal or otherwise performs Services under or in connection with this Agreement. Nothing herein shall prevent either 
party from hiring any individual who responds to a general advertisement for services. 

5. INSURANCE: Wood will maintain insurance for this Agreement in the following types and limits: (i) worker’s compensation 
insurance as required by applicable law, (ii) comprehensive general liability insurance (CGL) ($1,000,000 per occurrence / 
$2,000,000 aggregate), and (iii) automobile liability insurance for bodily injury and property damage ($1,000,000 CSL).  

6. CHANGES: CLIENT may order changes within the general scope of the Services by altering, adding to, or deleting from 
the Services to be performed. Work beyond the scope of services or re-doing any part of the project through no fault of 
Wood, shall constitute extra work and shall be paid for on a time-and-materials basis in addition to any other payment 
provided for in this Agreement. 

Should Wood encounter conditions which were (i) not reasonably anticipated, including, but not limited to, changes in 
applicable law,  (ii) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in this
Agreement or (iii) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature that differ materially from those ordinarily found to 
exist and generally recognized as inherent in activities of the character contemplated by this Agreement, Wood shall 
promptly provide notice to CLIENT. CLIENT shall promptly investigate such conditions.  If, in Wood’s reasonable opinion, 
the conditions cause an increase or decrease in Wood’s cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of its 
Services, CLIENT shall issue a Change Order with an equitable adjustment in Wood’s compensation, schedule, or both. In 
the event no Change Order is agreed to, Wood reserves the right to either (i) suspend its performance until a Change 
Order is agreed to or (ii) discontinue its performance and terminate this Agreement. 

7. FORCE MAJEURE: Should performance of Services by Wood be affected by causes beyond its reasonable control, Force 
Majeure results. Force Majeure includes but is not restricted to: acts of God; acts of a legislative, administrative or judicial
entity; acts of contractors other than contractors engaged directly by Wood; earthquakes; fires; floods; labor disturbances; 
epidemics, pandemics; and unusually severe weather. Wood will be granted a time extension and the parties will negotiate an 
equitable adjustment to the price of any affected Services, where appropriate, based upon the effect of the Force Majeure on 
performance by Wood.  The Parties agree that the current COVID-19 Pandemic shall be deemed a Force Majeure under this 
section and that any on-going or future potential or actual disruptions, or delays in performance of services or deliverables 
related to the COVID-19 Pandemic will be subject to the time and compensation requirements listed in this Section 6. 

8. INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE: All reports, drawings, plans, or other documents (or copies) furnished to Wood by the 
CLIENT, shall at CLIENT’s written request, be returned upon completion of the Services hereunder; provided, however, that 
Wood may retain one (1) copy of all such documents  All reports, drawings, plans, documents, software, source code, object 
code, field notes and work product (or copies thereof) in any form prepared or furnished by Wood under this Agreement are 
instruments of service. Exclusive ownership, copyright and title to all instruments of service remain with Wood.  

CLIENT agrees as follows: (i) the instruments of service (a) may be used and relied upon only by CLIENT and, subject to 
the terms of  this Agreement, its design team solely for the design of the Project, (b) will not be used other than for the 
Project, but may be submitted for any necessary regulatory approval, (c) may be based in part or in whole on facts and/or 
assumptions provided to, but not independently verified by, Wood and (d) will reflect Wood’s findings as to conditions that 
existed only at the time the Services were performed; (ii) Wood (a) makes no representations as to any facts or 
assumptions provided to, but not independently verified by, Wood and (b) may rely on all of the information and data 
provided by CLIENT to Wood being accurate and complete; (iii) any third party who wishes to rely on any instruments of 
service must first sign Wood’s Reliance Letter Agreement; and (iv) if CLIENT requests instruments of service on electronic 
media, the electronic copy may be inaccurate or incomplete and the document retained by Wood will be the official 
document, and any modification(s) of the electronic copy made by CLIENT will be at its own risk. CLIENT hereby releases, 
defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless Wood from and against all liabilities asserted against, or incurred by, Wood 
related to the breach by CLIENT of any of the foregoing agreements; provided, if CLIENT is a governmental entity, it has 
no obligation to defend or indemnify Wood. 

9. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES: CLIENT agrees to: (i) provide Wood all available material, data, and information pertaining 
to the Services, including, without limitation, plot plans, topographic studies, hydrologic data and previous soil and geologic 
data including borings, field or laboratory tests, written reports, the composition, quantity, toxicity, or potentially hazardous 
properties of any material known or believed to be present at any site, any hazards that may be present, the nature and 
location of underground or otherwise not readily apparent utilities, summaries and assessments of the site’s past and present 
compliance status, and the status of any filed or pending judicial or administrative action concerning the site and shall 
immediately transmit to Wood any new information that becomes available or any changes in plans; (ii) convey and discuss 
such materials, data, and information with Wood; and (iii) ensure cooperation of CLIENT’s employees. 

CLIENT shall indemnify, defend, and save Wood harmless from and against any liability, claim, judgment, demand, or cause 
of action arising out of or relating to: (i) CLIENT’s breach of this Agreement; (ii) the negligent acts or omissions of CLIENT or 



                                                           

US T&M 4-2020 
 Page 3 of 6 

its employees, contractors, or agents; (iii) any allegation that Wood is the owner or operator of a site, or arranged for the 
treatment, transportation or disposal of hazardous materials, including all adverse health effects thereof and (iv) site access or 
damages to any subterranean structures or any damage required for site access.

In addition, where the Services include preparation of plans and specifications and/or construction oversight activities for 
CLIENT, CLIENT agrees to have its construction contractors agree in writing to indemnify and save harmless Wood from and 
against loss, damage, injury, or liability attributable to personal injury or property damage arising out of or resulting from such 
contractors’ performance or nonperformance of their work. 

10. SITE ACCESS: CLIENT shall at its cost and at such times as may be required by Wood for the successful and timely 
completion of Services: (i) provide unimpeded and timely access to any site, including third party sites if required (ii) provide
an adequate area for Wood’s site office facilities, equipment storage, and employee parking; (iii) furnish all construction 
utilities and utilities releases necessary for the Services; (iv) provide the locations of all subsurface structures, including piping, 
tanks, cables, and utilities; (v) approve all locations for digging and drilling operations; and (vi) obtain all permits and licenses 
which are necessary and required to be taken out in CLIENT’s name for the Services. Wood will not be liable for damage or 
injury arising from damage to subsurface structures that are not called to its attention and correctly shown on the plans 
furnished to Wood in connection with its work.

11. WARRANTY OF TITLE, WASTE OWNERSHIP: CLIENT has and shall retain all responsibility and liability for the 
environmental conditions on the site. Title and risk of loss with respect to all materials shall remain with CLIENT If the 
samples or wastes resulting from the Services contain any contaminants, Wood, as the CLIENT’s agent, and at CLIENT’s
direction and expense, will either (i) return such samples or wastes to, or leave them with, CLIENT for appropriate disposal 
or (ii) using a manifest signed by CLIENT as generator and arranger, coordinate the transport of such samples or wastes 
to an approved facility selected by CLIENT for final disposal, using a transporter selected by CLIENT.  At no time will Wood 
assume possession or title, constructive or express, to any such samples or wastes.  CLIENT agrees to pay all costs 
associated with the storage, transport, and disposal of samples and wastes.  

12. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: As part of the consideration Wood requires for provision of the Services indicated 
herein, CLIENT agrees that any claim for damages filed against Wood by CLIENT or any contractor or 
subcontractor hired directly or indirectly by CLIENT will be filed solely against Wood or its successors or assigns 
and that no individual person shall be made personally liable for damages, in whole or in part. 

CLIENT’s sole and exclusive remedy for any alleged breach of Wood’s standard of care hereunder shall be to require 
Wood to re-perform any defective Services. All claims by CLIENT shall be deemed relinquished unless filed within 
one (1) year after substantial completion of the Services. 

TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, CLIENT AGREES THAT THE LIABILITY OF WOOD TO CLIENT 
FOR ANY AND ALL CAUSES OF ACTION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, CONTRIBUTION, ASSERTED BY 
CLIENT AND ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE NEGLIGENT ACT(S), ERROR(S) OR OMISSION(S) OF WOOD 
IN PERFORMING SERVICES, SHALL BE LIMITED TO FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($50,000) OR THE TOTAL FEES 
ACTUALLY PAID TO WOOD BY CLIENT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WITHIN THE PRIOR ONE (1) YEAR PERIOD, 
WHICHEVER IS LESS (“LIMITATION”). CLIENT HEREBY WAIVES AND RELEASES (I) ALL PRESENT AND FUTURE 
CLAIMS AGAINST WOOD OTHER THAN THOSE DESCRIBED IN THE PRECEDING SENTENCE, AND (II) ANY 
LIABILITY OF WOOD IN EXCESS OF THE LIMITATION.  
In consideration of the promises contained herein and for other separate, valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, CLIENT acknowledges and agrees that (i) but for the Limitation, 
Wood would not have performed the Services, (ii) it has had the opportunity to negotiate the terms of the 
Limitation as part of an “arms-length” transaction, (iii) the Limitation amount may differ from the amount of 
professional liability insurance carried by Wood, (iv) the Limitation is merely a limitation of, and not an 
exculpation from, Wood’s liability and does not in any way obligate CLIENT to defend, indemnify or hold harmless 
Wood, (v) the Limitation is an agreed remedy, and (vi) the Limitation amount is neither nominal nor a disincentive 
to Wood performing the Services in accordance with the Standard of Care.
Wood and CLIENT each hereby waive any right to recover from the other party for any special, incidental, indirect, or 
consequential damages (including, but not limited to: loss of use, loss of revenue, loss of profit, loss of contracts, 
loss of product or production, or loss of business opportunity) incurred by either Wood or CLIENT or for which 
either party may be liable to any third party, which damages have been or are occasioned by services performed or 
reports prepared or other work performed hereunder.  

CLIENT agrees that the damages for which Wood shall be liable are limited to that proportion of such damages 
which is attributable to Wood’s percentage of fault subject to the other limitations herein.  

13. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING: Neither party shall assign its interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the other, except that Wood may assign its interest in the Agreement to related or affiliated companies of Wood 
or subcontract portions of the Services to a qualified subcontractor without the consent of CLIENT. 



                                                           

US T&M 4-2020 
 Page 4 of 6 

If services are required in New York, Wood will arrange for such services to be provided by an associated firm and this 
agreement, where required, shall be deemed to be directly between the CLIENT and the licensed firm for all purposes 
related to the specific scope of services.  Wood shall retain responsibility in accordance with this Agreement for all services
performed.  

14.  COST ESTIMATES: If included in the Services, Wood will provide cost estimates based upon Wood’s experience on 
similar projects, which are not intended for use by CLIENT or any other party in developing firm budgets or financial 
models, or in making investment decisions. Such cost estimates represent only Wood’s judgment as a professional and, if 
furnished, only for CLIENT’s general guidance and are not guaranteed as to accuracy. 

15. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: If a claim, dispute, or controversy arises out of or relates to the interpretation, application, 
enforcement, or performance of Services under this Agreement, Wood and CLIENT agree first to try in good faith to settle the 
dispute by negotiations between senior management of Wood and CLIENT. If such negotiations are unsuccessful, Wood and 
CLIENT agree to attempt to settle the dispute by good faith mediation if both parties agree. If the dispute cannot be settled 
though mediation, and unless otherwise mutually agreed, the dispute shall be settled by litigation in an appropriate court in the
state of the Wood office entering into this Agreement. TO THE EXTENT NOT PROHIBITED BY LAW, THE PARTIES 
HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN CONNECTION 
WITH THIS AGREEMENT. Except as otherwise provided herein, each party shall be responsible for its own legal costs and 
attorneys’ fees.

16.  TERM AND TERMINATION: The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the day and year first written above, and 
shall continue in effect until terminated by either party as provided herein. Either party may terminate this Agreement at any 
time, with or without cause, by providing not less than ten (10) days advance written notice to the other party. Wood may 
terminate this Agreement immediately in writing if CLIENT becomes insolvent, enters bankruptcy, receivership, or other like 
proceeding (voluntary or involuntary) or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, this Agreement will survive as to the Services provided prior to the 
Agreement’s effective termination date, until all of the rights and obligations of both parties thereunder have been fulfilled. 

CLIENT shall compensate Wood for all Services performed hereunder through the date of any termination and all reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred by Wood in effecting the termination, including non-cancelable commitments and demobilization 
costs.

17. NOTICE: Any notice required under this Agreement will be in writing, addressed to the appropriate party at the address 
set forth in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement (or such other address as the parties may designate from time to 
time in writing) and given personally, by registered or certified mail postage prepaid, or by a commercial courier service. 
Notices shall be effective: (a) upon receipt after being delivered personally, (b) 3 days after being deposited in the mail as 
described above, or (c) 2 days after being deposited with a commercial courier service. 

18. CONFIDENTIALITY: Both parties shall keep all information and data provided by the other party pertaining to the 
Services strictly confidential, and unless such information and data is already in the public domain on the date of the 
Agreement, neither party shall publish or otherwise disseminate such information and data to any third party without receiving 
written permission to do so from the source of such information or data. If disclosure of such confidential information is 
required by law or legal process, the party obligated to disclose such information should provide reasonable advance 
notice to the party that provided such information.

19. WAIVER: The failure of either Wood or CLIENT in any one or more instances to enforce one or more of the terms or 
conditions of this Agreement or to exercise any right or privilege in this Agreement or the waiver by Wood or CLIENT of any 
breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed as thereafter waiving any such terms, conditions, 
rights, or privileges, and the same shall continue and remain in force and effect as if no such failure to enforce had occurred.

20. SEVERABILITY AND HEADINGS: Every term or condition of this Agreement is severable from others. Notwithstanding 
any possible future finding by a duly constituted authority that a particular term or provision is invalid, void, or unenforceable, 
this Agreement has been made with the clear intention that the validity and enforceability of the remaining parts, terms, and 
provisions shall not be affected thereby. The headings used in this Agreement are for general reference only and do not have 
special significance. 

21. GOVERNING LAWS/LANGUAGE: This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
state of the Wood office entering into this Agreement. All communications relating to or arising out of this Agreement shall be
in the English language. 

22. NONDISCRIMINATION AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION: Wood agrees to comply with Executive Order 11246 and the 
applicable federal regulations pertaining to nondiscrimination and affirmative action, including the Equal Opportunity Clause, 
the Affirmative Action Clause for Handicapped Workers, and the Affirmative Action Clause for Disabled Veterans and 
Veterans of the Vietnam Era. Further, Wood agrees that its facilities are not segregated. 



                                                           

US T&M 4-2020 
 Page 5 of 6 

23. FIELD REPRESENTATION:  The Services do not include supervision or direction of the means, methods or actual 
work of other consultants, contractors and subcontractors not retained by Wood.  The presence of Wood’s representative 
will not relieve any such other party from its responsibility to perform its work and services in accordance with its 
contractual and legal obligations and in conformity with the plans and specifications for the project.  CLIENT agrees that 
each such other party will be solely responsible for its working conditions and safety on the site.  Wood’s monitoring of the 
procedures of any such other party is not intended to include a review of the adequacy of its safety measures.  It is agreed 
that Wood is not responsible for safety or security at a site, other than for Wood’s employees, and that Wood does not 
have the contractual duty or legal right to stop the work of others. 

24. AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN: The person signing this Agreement warrants that he has authority to sign as, or on behalf 
of, the CLIENT for whom or for whose benefit Wood's services are rendered.  

25.  ANTI-BRIBERY: The Parties undertake to protect the standards of business practice of the other Party at all times 
and to act in such a way as to uphold the good name and reputation of the other Party and not to do or attempt to do any 
act or thing which is intended to and/or which in fact causes any damage to or brings discredit upon the other Party and, in 
particular, the Parties will not: 
(a) Offer or give or agree to give to any director, officer, employee or agent of the other Party or any other entity any 
gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or for forbearing to do or for having done or forborne 
to do any action in relation to the obtaining or execution of any contract or for showing or forbearing to show any favor or 
disfavor to any person in relation to any contract. 
(b) Induce or attempt to induce any officer, servant or agent of any private or public body to neither depart from his 
duties to his employer nor be involved with any such arrangement.

26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: The terms and conditions set forth herein constitute the entire understanding and agreement of 
Wood and CLIENT with respect to the Services. All previous proposals, offers, and other communications relative to the 
provisions of these Services are hereby superseded. Any modification or revision of any provision set forth herein or any 
additional provision contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, or other form of the CLIENT is hereby superseded 
and expressly objected to by Wood and shall not operate to modify this Agreement. Should CLIENT utilize its purchase order 
or any other form to procure services, CLIENT acknowledges and agrees that its use of such purchase order or other form is 
solely for administrative purposes and in no event shall Wood be bound to any terms and conditions on such purchase order 
or other form, regardless of reference to (e.g. on invoices) or signature upon (e.g. acknowledgement) such purchase order or 
other form by Wood. CLIENT shall endeavor to reference this Agreement on any purchase order or other form it may issue to 
procure Wood services, but CLIENT’s failure to do so shall not operate to modify this Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CLIENT and Wood have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective duly authorized 
representatives as of the date first set forth above. 

CLIENT Wood Environment & Infrastructure Solutions, Inc. 

By:       By:       

Name:       Name:       

Title:       Title:       



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
     
Date:  July 23, 2020 
 
RE: Recommendation of Low Bidder 

CIP – West Jones Avenue Sidewalk Improvements 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing 
 
Recommendation:  
The low bidder, Tim Lanier Construction, LLC meets the requirements of the bid package and submitted 
an acceptable bid bond.  Staff recommends awarding this contract to Tim Lanier Construction, LLC in the 
amount of $134,670.50 and requests approval to spend up to the budgeted amount of $135,750.00 for 
additional work to be based on contractor’s unit bid prices.  
 
Background:  
This project proposes to construct sidewalk along the North side of West Jones Avenue from Johnson 
Street to Cromartie Drive. Sidewalk construction includes approximately 1,500 feet of 4” thick concrete 
sidewalk, crosswalks and other minor improvements to include 6” thick concrete driveway, removing and 
replacing 6” curbing, 42” RCP, 8” thick headwall, removing and reconstructing drop inlet, reset fencing, 8” 
thermoplastic crosswalk striping, 24” thermoplastic stop bars, removing trees, and appurtenances . The 
project also includes constructing sidewalk along the South side of West Jones Avenue from Institute 
Street to South Main Street. This segment of sidewalk will connect to existing sidewalks at each end of 
Johnson Street and Cromartie Drive.  
 
The low bidder is Tim Lanier Construction, LLC with a base bid of $134,670.50. Please see the attached 
Engineer/Consultant Recommendation Letter for all bid results. 
 
Budget Impact:   
The low bid submitted by Tim Lanier Construction, LLC is below the budgeted amount of $135,750.00.  
The project is to be paid for from the 2018 TSPLOST fund. 

 

Council Person and District: District 2, Council Member Chavers 
 
Attachments: Engineer/Consultant - Recommendation Letter 
 
CC:         Darren Prather, Director of Central Services 



 

July 21st, 2020 
 
Mr. David Moyer 
City of Statesboro 
50 East Main Street 
Statesboro, GA 30458 
 
RE: Letter of Recommendation – West Jones Sidewalk Improvements (PE18208) 
 
Dear Mr. Moyer, 
 
As you are aware, bids were received and opened for the above referenced project on July 21st, 2020. 
We have checked and tabulated the bids received. We have determined that Tim Lanier 
Construction, LLC is the low bidder for this project when evaluated on the basis of the base bid 
amount.   
 
Since the low bidder appears to have adequate experience and technical ability to complete this 
project, Parker Engineering recommends the project be awarded to Tim Lanier Construction, LLC in 
an amount equal to the base bid in an amount of $134,670.50. 
 
We are enclosing one copy of the “Bid Tabulation” for your file. We are also enclosing a copy of the 
Notice of Award for this project and a sample resolution for your use. Please execute the Notice of 
Award and return it and the resolution to our office as soon as possible. We will prepare three (3) 
sets of contract documents and forward them to you when the Contractor has executed the 
Agreement and delivered all the necessary bonds, insurance, etc.  
 
If you have any questions or need any additional information, please call us. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
G. Wesley Parker, P.E. 
  
encl: Bid Tabulation, Notice of Award, Resolution   
 
cc:  John Washington, City of Statesboro 
 Darren Prather, City of Statesboro 
 Robert Seamans, City of Statesboro 
 
  



BID TABULATION FOR ALL BIDS PARKER ENGINEERING, LLC

RECEIVED AT 50 East Main Street,Statesboro, GA 30458 36 COURTLAND STREET, SUITE B

ON July 21st, 2020 at 3:00 PM STATESBORO, GA 30458

PROJECT: BIDDERS:

City of Statesboro

West Jones Sidewalk Improvements PO Box 2379  2271 Middle Ground Road  9521 Hwy 301 South  5657 Lakeview Road  100 Timber Trail Suite 101  401 2nd Street NE / PO Box 2002  615 Knox Abbott Drive

PROJECT NO.:  PE18208 Statesboro, GA 30459 Statesboro, GA 30461 Statesboro, GA 30458 Statesboro, GA 30461 Richmond Hill, GA 31324 Moultie, GA 31776 Cayce, SC 29033

ITEM QTY. UNIT DESCRIPTION UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL

NO. PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

ITEM 1 - West Jones Sidewalk Improvements
a. 1 LS Demolition 4,500.00$           4,500.00$           20,000.00$       20,000.00$             6,775.00$           6,775.00$               10,000.00$              10,000.00$        24,500.00$          24,500.00$          15,000.00$                15,000.00$          57,100.00$           57,100.00$            

b. 3 EA Remove Tree 750.00$              2,250.00$           500.00$            1,500.00$               750.00$              2,250.00$               1,500.00$                4,500.00$          2,500.00$            7,500.00$            3,000.00$                  9,000.00$            2,435.00$             7,305.00$              

c. 1 LS Temporary and Permanent Grassing 2,500.00$           2,500.00$           2,500.00$         2,500.00$               3,500.00$           3,500.00$               3,500.00$                3,500.00$          8,000.00$            8,000.00$            10,000.00$                10,000.00$          14,230.00$           14,230.00$            

d. 2 EA PVC Sleeves for Mailbox 100.00$              200.00$              100.00$            200.00$                  300.00$              600.00$                  350.00$                   700.00$             250.00$               500.00$               500.00$                     1,000.00$            170.00$                340.00$                 

e. 63 LF 6" Curbing 20.00$                1,260.00$           25.00$              1,575.00$               18.00$                1,134.00$               25.00$                     1,575.00$          20.00$                 1,260.00$            75.00$                       4,725.00$            40.50$                  2,551.50$              

f. 100 LF Remove and Replace 6" Curbing 45.00$                4,500.00$           35.00$              3,500.00$               28.00$                2,800.00$               30.00$                     3,000.00$          30.00$                 3,000.00$            50.00$                       5,000.00$            60.75$                  6,075.00$              

g. 1 EA 611-3010 - Reconstruct Drop Inlet (Metal) 500.00$              500.00$              2,500.00$         2,500.00$               3,350.00$           3,350.00$               2,500.00$                2,500.00$          5,000.00$            5,000.00$            5,000.00$                  5,000.00$            4,360.00$             4,360.00$              

h. 118 LF Remove and Reset Fencing 25.00$                2,950.00$           25.00$              2,950.00$               45.00$                5,310.00$               25.00$                     2,950.00$          50.00$                 5,900.00$            50.00$                       5,900.00$            85.50$                  10,089.00$            

i. 1,685 SY 4" Thick Concrete Sidewalk 38.50$                64,872.50$         35.00$              58,975.00$             40.00$                67,400.00$             50.00$                     84,250.00$        29.00$                 48,865.00$          40.00$                       67,400.00$          42.75$                  72,033.75$            

j. 210 SY 6" Thick Concrete Sidewalk 46.00$                9,660.00$           42.00$              8,820.00$               45.00$                9,450.00$               55.00$                     11,550.00$        40.00$                 8,400.00$            81.00$                       17,010.00$          61.30$                  12,873.00$            

k. 10 SY 310-5040 - 4" GAB 100.00$              1,000.00$           15.00$              150.00$                  40.00$                400.00$                  50.00$                     500.00$             50.00$                 500.00$               150.00$                     1,500.00$            405.00$                4,050.00$              

l. 8 LF 550-1420 - 42" RCP 150.00$              1,200.00$           200.00$            1,600.00$               150.00$              1,200.00$               331.63$                   2,653.04$          500.00$               4,000.00$            200.00$                     1,600.00$            525.00$                4,200.00$              

m. 1 EA 441-0600 - 8" Thick Headwall 7,600.00$           7,600.00$           5,000.00$         5,000.00$               7,975.00$           7,975.00$               2,863.00$                2,863.00$          7,500.00$            7,500.00$            12,000.00$                12,000.00$          7,640.00$             7,640.00$              

n. 127 LF 653-1804 - 8" Thermoplastic Crosswalk Striping 8.00$                  1,016.00$           15.00$              1,905.00$               14.00$                1,778.00$               10.00$                     1,270.00$          10.00$                 1,270.00$            25.00$                       3,175.00$            11.25$                  1,428.75$              

o. 33 LF 653-1704 - 24" Thermoplastic Stop Bars 14.00$                462.00$              25.00$              825.00$                  14.00$                462.00$                  25.00$                     825.00$             20.00$                 660.00$               75.00$                       2,475.00$            17.00$                  561.00$                 

p. 3 EA 636-1014/636-2070 - Signs and Steel Posts 400.00$              1,200.00$           350.00$            1,050.00$               650.00$              1,950.00$               450.00$                   1,350.00$          400.00$               1,200.00$            700.00$                     2,100.00$            395.00$                1,185.00$              

q. 1 LS Grading Complete 19,500.00$         19,500.00$         15,000.00$       15,000.00$             29,655.00$         29,655.00$             20,000.00$              20,000.00$        27,500.00$          27,500.00$          25,000.00$                25,000.00$          224,550.00$         224,550.00$          

r. 1 LS Traffic Control 2,500.00$           2,500.00$           5,000.00$         5,000.00$               2,500.00$           2,500.00$               5,500.00$                5,500.00$          12,000.00$          12,000.00$          10,000.00$                10,000.00$          13,160.00$           13,160.00$            

s. 1 LS Testing 2,500.00$           2,500.00$           500.00$            500.00$                  2,250.00$           2,250.00$               4,500.00$                4,500.00$          7,000.00$            7,000.00$            5,000.00$                  5,000.00$            6,140.00$             6,140.00$              

t. 1 LS Landscape Allowance 4,500.00$           4,500.00$           4,500.00$         4,500.00$               4,500.00$           4,500.00$               4,500.00$                4,500.00$          4,500.00$            4,500.00$            4,500.00$                  4,500.00$            4,500.00$             4,500.00$              

I hereby certify that this Bid Tabulation is a true and accurate representation of all Bids received on July 21st, 2020.

Lindsey Thomas, Parker Engineering, LLC

454,372.00$                                          

179,055.00$                                        207,385.00$                                             454,372.00$                                          

TOTAL BASE BID 134,670.50$                                     138,050.00$                                        155,239.00$                                         168,486.04$                                         179,055.00$                                        207,385.00$                                             

Blount and Sons Concrete Finishing L-J, Inc.Jerry Rushing Construction Co.Tim Lanier Construction, LLC Preferred Site Construction, LLC Y-Delta, Inc. Platinum Paving and Concrete

BID TOTAL SUPPLIED BY CONTRACTOR 134,670.50$                                     138,050.00$                                        155,239.00$                                         168,486.04$                                         

Page 1 of 1



1 

 

PRESS RELEASE                 July 24, 2020 
 
Contact: Kelli Bennett 

Office: 678-686-6242 
Cell: 404-796-5508 
kbennett@gacities.com 

 
 
The City of Statesboro Participates in GMA’s 2020 Census Challenge 

 
City – City Planner I Justin Williams is heading up Statesboro’s participation in the 
Georgia Municipal Association’s (GMA) 2020 Census Challenge to increase response 
rates within the city. The challenge began on July 13 and concludes on Aug. 28.  
 
GMA provided each participating city with resources to help improve residents’ Census 
response rates.  Cities will be recognized for their achievement by GMA’s 12 districts 
based on the percentage increase of their response rate. The cities with the highest 
increase will be featured in Georgia’s Cities magazine and on GMA’s digital media 
platforms.  
 
“The importance of obtaining an accurate count for the 2020 Census cannot be 
overstated, as it will determine your city’s federal funding for the next 10 years,” said 
Holger Loewendorf, GMA research manager, “Do your part to make sure Every. One. 
Counts.”  
 
He also encouraged cities and residents to visit www.2020census.gov today for more 
information. 
 
Created in 1933, the Georgia Municipal Association is the only state organization that 
represents municipal governments in Georgia. Based in Atlanta, GMA is a voluntary, non-
profit organization that provides legislative advocacy, educational, employee benefit and 
technical consulting services to its members. GMA currently represents 537 cities in 
Georgia. 
 

### 
 

 

 
 
 

mailto:kbennett@gacities.com

	08-04-2020 Council Agenda
	Transparency Ord memo (1)
	Exisiting 2.2.4 (1)
	Transparency Ordinance rev (1)
	08-04 CRF Memo
	08-04 CRF resolution
	08-04 CRF Terms and Conditions
	08-04 Insurance Broker
	08-04 Parks design Memo
	08-04  Parks Combined Proposal_for signature
	08-04 W.Jones_Low bidder Council Memo
	PE18208_Recommendation Package_S.pdf
	PE18208_Letter_Recommendation
	PE18208_Bid Tabulation_S


	08-04 Press Release GMA's 2020 Census Challenge - kbedits



